Public Document Pack

Meeting of:
Date:
Time:
Venue:

Planning and Licensing Committee
Thursday, 21st January, 2021
6.00 pm.
Zoom

This agenda gives notice of items to be considered in private as required by
Regulations 5 (4) and (5) of The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements)
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012.
Item
No.
1

AGENDA

Page No

Apologies
To receive any apologies for absence.

2

Minutes

4-6

To consider the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing
Committee held 3rd December 2020.
3

Declarations of Interest
Members are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary, personal
or personal and prejudicial interests they may have and the nature of
those interests relating to items on this agenda and/or indicate if S106
of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them.

4

Urgent Items of Business
To determine whether there are any additional items of business
which, by reason of special circumstances, the Chair decides should
be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

5

Submitted Planning Applications
To consider planning applications for determination.

5a

36 Norford Way, Bamford, Rochdale
Proposal: a part single, part double storey extension to front and rear

7 - 16

of house. Revised submission of app 20/00348/HOUS.
5b

Honresfeld, Halifax Road Littleborough

17 - 39

Proposal: A change of use from care home to single detached dwelling
with associated building and demolition works, demolition of existing
bungalow and construction of six new detached dwellings with
associated servicing and external works - Resubmission of
19/01091/FUL
6

Planning Appeals
To note the following appeals:
1. 19/01358/FUL - Land at Higher Birtle, near junction of Birtle
Road and Scotland Lane, Birtle, Rochdale
2. 20/00469/HOUS - 12 Birchinley Manor, Birchinley Lane,
Milnrow.
3. 19/01179/FUL - Whitfield Barn, Calderbrook Road,
Littleborough.
4. 19/0103/EUD - 24 Grandidge Street, Rochdale.

Site visits
It has been agreed with the Chair of the Planning and Licensing
Committee that, in view of the current COVID-19 guidance specific to
Rochdale, there will be no site visits for the agenda items.
Members are free to view the application sites from public vantage
points without entering private property, and are encouraged to make
use of Google Earth and Google Streetview prior to the meeting.
The above guidance is reflected on page 15 of the PAS document:
“Probity
in
planning
for
councillors
and
officers”
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/probity-planningcouncill-d92.pdf

40 - 43

Planning and Licensing Committee Members
Councillor Shakil Ahmed (Chair)
Councillor Phil Burke (Vice Chair)
Councillor Irene Davidson
Councillor Susan Emmott
Councillor Rachel Massey
Councillor Amna Mir
Councillor Shaun O'Neill
Councillor Faisal Rana
Councillor Aasim Rashid
Councillor Peter Rush
Councillor John Taylor
Councillor Shah Wazir
Councillor Peter Winkler
Councillor Sameena Zaheer
Councillor Mohammed Zaman
For more information about this meeting, please contact:Peter Thompson
Committees and Constitutional Services
Rochdale Borough Council,
Number One Riverside
Rochdale
OL16 1XU
Telephone – 01706 924715
E-mail – peter.thompson@rochdale.gov.uk

Agenda Item 2
PLANNING AND LICENSING COMMITTEE
MINUTES OF MEETING
Thursday, 3rd December 2020
PRESENT: Councillor Shakil Ahmed (in the Chair); Councillors Burke,
Davidson, Susan Emmott, Massey, Mir, O’Neill, Rashid, Rush, Taylor, Wazir,
Winkler, Zaheer and Zaman
OFFICERS: P. Moore (Head of Planning), E. Heron, S. Syeda, M. AtkinsonSmith (Economy Directorate), J. Gillighan (Neighbourhoods Directorate),
L. Adams, J. Holmes and P. Thompson (Resources Directorate).
ALSO IN ATTENDANCE: Councillors Bamford and Kelly and eight members
of the public.
35

APOLOGIES
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Rana.

36

MINUTES
Resolved:
That the Minutes of the meeting of the Planning and Licensing Committee
held 5th November 2020 be approved, as a correct record.

37

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Zaheer declared a personal interest in submitted planning
application planning application 20/00639/FUL – The Soccer Village,
Wildhouse Lane, Milnrow – insofar as she was a Council appointed Trustee of
Link4Life.

38

LAND OFF NEW ROAD, LITTLEBOROUGH
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application
20/00607/FUL, a residential development of 100 dwellings, together with
associated access, earthworks, landscaping, public open space, and on-site
infrastructure (including the capping of artesian well), at land off New Road,
Littleborough.
The Committee received representations from Mr. T. Relph and Mr. D.
Kershaw, who addressed Members on behalf of the applicant, in support of
the application.
Resolved:
1. That planning permission be granted, subject to the Conditions that
were detailed in the Committee’s submitted report and in the Planning
Officer’s Update Report (published on the day of the meeting) and to
the completion of a Section 106 agreement to secure:
(i) The provision of affordable housing on site in accordance with the
approved plans and the affordable housing scheme;
(ii) A financial contribution towards the provision of additional primary
school places calculated by the pupil yield of the development

Page 4

multiplied by the relevant basic need funding allocation (currently
£308,000.25 but the final calculation shall be based on the
multipliers in place at the relevant time);
(iii) A financial contribution towards the provision of additional secondary
school places calculated by the pupil yield of the development (0.1
per dwelling) multiplied by the relevant basic need funding
allocation (currently £154,000.1 but the final calculation shall be
based on the multipliers in place at the relevant time);
(iv) A financial contribution towards the provision of outdoor sport and
recreation facilities at Littleborough Sports Centre in accordance
with the Council’s SPD: Provision of Recreational Open Space in
New Housing;
(v) A scheme for the provision, implementation and management of a
Local Area of Play (LAP).
2. The Head of Planning Services be authorised to grant planning
permission upon execution of the above S106 agreement.
39

BIRCH BUSINESS PARK, UNIT D WHITTLE LANE HEYWOOD
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application
20/00955/FUL, which sought permission for the retrospective demolition of
Unit D and erection of a B2/B8 warehouse unit with ancillary B1(a) office
space at Birch Business Park including ancillary office, parking and servicing
areas, associated works and infrastructure, at Birch Business Park, Unit D
Whittle Lane Heywood.
The Committee received representations from Mr. N. Fillingham and Mr. B.
Ullathorne, who addressed Members on behalf of the applicant, in support of
the application.
Resolved:
That planning permission be granted, subject to the conditions detailed within
the submitted report.

40

THE SOCCER VILLAGE, WILDHOUSE LANE, MILNROW
The Head of Planning presented submitted planning application
20/00639/FUL, which sought the demolition of the existing buildings,
hardstanding areas and sports pitches, and the erection of 47 dwelling
houses, including the provision of associated roads, footways, public open
space, parking areas, drainage, landscaping and boundary treatments along
with ground levelling works, works to trees and ponds and other associated
works at The Soccer Village, Wildhouse Lane, Milnrow.
The Committee received representations from Mr. G. Baker, who addressed
Members on behalf of the objectors to the planning application.
The Committee received representations from Mr. D. Hann and Mr. T.
Whitehead, who addressed Members on behalf of the applicant, in support of
the application.

Page 5

The Committee was addressed by Councillor Kelly, a Milnrow and Newhey
Ward Member, in which Ward the proposed development was located
Resolved:
1. That the Committee delegates authority to the Assistant Director
(Planning) to grant conditional planning permission subject to, the
Conditions that were detailed in the Committee’s submitted report and
in the Planning Officer’s Update Report (published on the day of the
meeting) and also subject to the prior signing of a S106 legal
agreement to include:
i. General contributions of £104,000 towards the provision of sports and
leisure facilities.
ii. Financial contributions of £144,760.11 towards Primary education and
£72,380.04 towards Secondary education.
iii. Financial contributions of £47,000 towards off-site highway
improvements for junction improvements to Kiln Lane and
Wildhouse Lane.
iv. The provision and future maintenance of recreational open space
within the site, in accordance with the Council’s policies.
2. The Head of Planning Services be authorised to grant planning
permission upon execution of the above S106 agreement.

Page 6

Agenda Item 5a
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application:
20/01364/HOUS
Applicant: Khaser Ahmed

Township: Rochdale

21st January 2021
Councillor John
Blundell,
Cabinet Member for
a Thriving Economy
Richard Whittaker
Public
Ward: Bamford

Agent: Farhan Rama

Site Address: 36 Norford Way, Bamford, OL11 5QS
Proposal: Proposed part single, part double storey extension to front and rear of
house. Revised submission of app 20/00348/HOUS with juliet balconies added to
rear bedrooms
SITE LOCATION

Page 7

DELEGATION
1.1

The application is referred to the Planning and Licensing Committee in
accordance with the scheme of delegation as the recommendation of
Officers conflicts with a previous relevant decision of the Committee.
PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1

Proposed part single, part double storey extension to front and rear of
house. Revised submission of app 20/00348/HOUS with juliet balconies
added to rear bedrooms.
RECOMMENDATION

3.1

That planning permission be GRANTED subject to the schedule of
recommended conditions.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

The proposed extension while visually prominent would comprise an
acceptable, contemporary addition to the application property, by virtue of
its design when compared to surrounding properties. The development
would not adversely impact upon the amenities of the occupiers of the
neighbouring properties. The proposed development would therefore
accord with Policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 8

BACKGROUND
This application is a like-for-like resubmission of the proposals submitted under
20/00348/HOUS, which was determined by Planning and Licensing Committee
on 6th August 2020. The committee resolved to grant planning permission, but
subject to an additional condition stipulating the omission of Juliet balconies and
replacement with conventional windows.
Planning permission was issued accordingly but the applicant has re-submitted
the application in its entirety wishing to build out the scheme with the originally
proposed Juliet balconies. The officer assessment set out below therefore is
largely a repeat of the previous committee report associated with
20/00348/HOUS for which officers recommended approval, and do so again with
this repeat application.
SITE
The application relates to a detached two storey dwelling located in the Bamford
area of Rochdale. The immediate street scene is a cul-de-sac made up of a
mixture of detached two storey and single storey houses. The dwellings along
this section of street scene each have a different appearance and share no
distinctive building line with the properties having a staggered layout when
viewed from the street scene. Whilst there is a mix of property types at this
location, a number of houses at this location have benefitted from first floor
extensions to form two storey dwellings.
The application property demonstrates an L shaped layout with a distinctive
sloping roof design over an extending projection forwards of the front elevation.
The roof continues from the highest ridge point of the roof down towards the
front projection which at its point closest to the highway is single storey eaves
height. This feature has an existing narrow front dormer window which from
plans show serves a storage space above the existing garage.
Another distinctive feature of this property is the large oversized eaves which
overhang the dwelling on all elevations. There is an existing first floor balcony
across the front elevation of the property which is sited above a front ground
floor terrace area directly in front of the main entrance to the property.
The existing building has been constructed from a mixture of different materials
including stone and white render.
At the time of the Case Officer’s site visit partially constructed front and rear
extensions were attached to the property.
Numbers 34 and 38 Norford Way are located to the south and north of the
application site respectively. Owing to the slight incline at this location, number
34 is located is a slightly lower positon than the application property. Number 34
is a single storey bungalow property whilst the other neighbouring property,
number 38, is a two storey property that has recently been converted from a
single storey bungalow.

Page 9

PROPOSAL
As per 20/00348/HOUS, the application seeks permission for a two storey front
extension, front porch and single and double storey rear extension including
alterations to fenestration and external part-rendering. This would include the
installation of 2no Juliet balcony features to the first floor aspect of the rear
elevation.
The front extension incorporates four elements. Two gable fronted two-story
projections, one being a partial dormer and both incorporating apex glazing, a
central two-storey flat roofed feature with full height glazing, and a single storey
flat roofed garage extension projecting forward of the northernmost two-storey
gable features.
The part two storey, part single storey rear extension is the same design and
scale previously approved under application 19/00607/HOUS, with the addition
of two Juliet balconies to the first floor. The full extension projections 4m, and
the single storey is situated on the left hand side, near the boundary with no. 34
Norford Way. It would be fitted with a lean to roof and would be approximately
4.8m in width.
The two storey rear extension would span the remainder of the rear elevation
(9.4m) and would have a dual pitched roof. There would be two French doors
with Juliet balconies to serve two additional bedrooms on this first floor.
The ground floor would have three sets of bi-fold doors to the rear elevation.
The mix of white render, artificial stonework and grey/black window and door
features together with the mix of architectural styles gives the extension a
contemporary appearance.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (CS) 2016:
P3
DM1
T2
Appendix 5

Improving Design of New Development
General Development Requirements
Improving Accessibility
Schedule of Parking Standards

Saved Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP) 2006:
G/D/1 Defined Urban Area
Supplementary Planning Documents:
Guidelines and Standards for Residential Development (June 2016)
NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND GUIDANCE

Page 10

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – February 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
RELEVANT HISTORY
78/D07454 – Balcony to front of dwellinghouse - Granted
17/01151/HOUS - Two storey front extension including balcony and basement
level recreational room, two storey rear extension, together with alterations to
existing dwelling including the application of external timber cladding to ground
floor front elevation, changes to fenestration and replacement of balustrade to
balcony. – Withdrawn
18/91298/HOUS - Two storey front and front porch, two and single storey rear
extensions together with alterations to existing dwelling including the application
of external render to all elevations and replacement of balustrade to balcony.
Refused for the following reasons:
1. “The proposal, by virtue of the design, width and forward projection of the
two storey front extension, would result in a prominent, poorly designed
and incongruous addition that would harm the character and appearance
of the property and the streetscene. The proposal is therefore contrary to
policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the
Council's adopted Supplementary Planning Document 'Guidelines &
Standards for Residential Development' and the National Planning Policy
Framework.”
2. “The proposal, by virtue of the scale, massing and extent of the forward
projection of the proposed two storey front extension, would result in an
overbearing form of development giving rise to loss of light and outlook to
the ground floor kitchen windows in the side elevation of 38 Norford Way
to the detriment of the amenity of the existing and future occupants. The
proposal is therefore contrary to policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted
Rochdale Core Strategy, the Council's adopted Supplementary Planning
Document 'Guidelines & Standards for Residential Development' and the
National Planning Policy Framework.”
19/00607/HOUS - Two storey front extension, porch and single and double
storey rear extension including alterations to fenestration and external partrendering – Approved
20/00348/HOUS - Two storey and single storey front extensions together with
single and two storey rear extension including Juliet balconies to the rear
elevation; including alterations to fenestration and external part-rendering (part
retrospective) – Approved
CONSULTATION RESPONSES

Page 11

None.
TOWNSHIP PLANNING PANEL
None.
MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS
None.
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
Objection Reps

3

Support Reps

0

Neutral Reps

0

Letters of notification were sent by the LPA to surrounding neighbours. Three
representations have been received. The objections have been summarised
below and are addressed in the following report:







The application is an attempt to push the proposed Juliet balcony
features through a second committee
Overbearing impact and visual intrusion (through size of development)
Overshadowing (through size of development)
Loss of privacy (through introduction of Juliet balcony features and raised
garden level)
Overdevelopment of site (due to size of development)
Drainage issues (through introduction of a raised garden level)

ANALYSIS
Design & Appearance
1. In the context of the street scene as a whole and the wide variety of
house styles, coupled with the significant setback from the highway, the
overall scale and massing of the proposed front extension is considered
to be acceptable. The design is considered to be attractive with
contemporary features which would not be detrimental to the visual
amenity of the street scene given the contemporary design of no.38
Norford Way. Number 38 has influenced the materials and window details
of this proposed development.
2. It is noted that the design of the front extension and garage projection is
an improvement upon the mass, scale and bulk of a previously approved
scheme (19/00607/HOUS). That scheme incorporated a lengthy front
projection that stepped downwards, thus retaining two-storeys of height
under a shallow pitched roof.
3. The proposed rear extension is large but the scale and massing is
acceptable given the rearward siting, and lack of impact on the street
scene. It is also largely the same as a previously approved scheme

Page 12

(19/00607/HOUS). The proposed materials finish of this element is
acceptable given the existing elevational treatment with a rendered finish.
A significant amount of glazing would be inserted across the ground floor
rear elevation through the installation of three sets of bi-folding doors.
These are not uncommon in contemporary re-developments and are
satisfactory in respect of visual appearance.
4. In light of the above, the design of the proposal is considered acceptable
and accords with policies DM1 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core
Strategy, the relevant requirements of the Residential Development SPD
and the NPPF.
Amenity
5. The proposed two storey rear extension accords with the projection limits
contained within the SPD. The SPD allows for two storey rear extensions
to project to a point drawn from a 30 degree angle taken from a 2.4m
point from the rear of the neighbouring dwelling of 38 Norford Way, along
the common boundary. As such, it is considered that the rear extension is
not considered to harmfully affect neighbour amenity at this location. The
two storey element is also sited away from the boundary shared with no.
34.
6. The single storey part of the rear extension is also within the projection
limits of the SPD which allows, for detached properties, a projection to a
point drawn from a 45 degree angle taken from a point 4m from the rear
of the neighbouring dwelling at 34 Norford Way along the common
boundary.
7. It is acknowledged that there is a modest differential in levels between
the rear of the application property and the rear garden of No. 34 Norford
Way. However, this is not considered to be of such a magnitude that it
would result in the rear extension being unduly overbearing.
8. Whilst the mass of the extension and its windows will not have an impact
on the amenities of the occupiers of no.34 in terms of the property itself, it
is noted that this neighbouring property has a sitting out area towards the
rear of the garden. There will be an additional modest impact in terms of
overlooking of the rear part of the neighbouring rear garden area of No.
34 through the siting of proposed bi-folding doors, but it is noted that the
same situation would result through the exercising of permitted
development rights. As such, it is not considered that a higher boundary
treatment is a necessary requirement to make the development
acceptable. It is also noted that the bi-fold doors are an element of the
previously approved scheme that is currently under construction.
9. The inclusion of a Juliet balcony in the rear elevation of the rear
extension would result in an increased perception of being overlooked in
the rear garden area of no.34 Norford Way. However, this would not be
significantly increased compared to an ordinary window, as there would

Page 13

be no opportunity for sitting out externally, and furthermore the windows
would be sited at an oblique angle from the neighbour’s rear garden
patio, as they would be positioned within the two-storey element further
north. The rear garden space of no.38 is angled away from the rear
elevation of the applicant property and would not be overlooked by the
Juliet balconies.
10. The side facing bedroom window at first floor level overlooking the roof of
No. 34 Norford Way is an existing feature. The side facing bedroom
window facing No. 38 Norford Way is an existing feature.
11. The neighbouring property at number 38 Norford Way features side
windows facing towards the application property, including at ground floor
level, two windows which are the only windows serving the kitchen.
Whilst it is acknowledged that the additional height and projection of the
front extension will have some additional impact on these windows, it is
not considered that the impact would be unduly overbearing. Existing
dense vegetative screening which would be retained already limits the
outlook from these windows which was already constrained by virtue of
their positioning. Whilst there would be some degree of reduction in early
evening sunlight reaching these windows, this would not be to an extent
to warrant a refusal of planning permission.
12. Whilst the concerns in respect of increased impacts in relation to
overlooking, loss of privacy and overbearing impact to No. 34 Norford
Way are noted, it is not considered that the proposed development would
unduly affect the living conditions of these or any other occupiers. The
application therefore accords with Core Strategy policy DM1, the SPD
and the NPPF.
13. In light of the above, the proposed extension would not unduly impact on
the amenity of the occupants of neighbouring properties and would
therefore accordance with policy DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core
Strategy, the relevant requirements of the Residential Development SPD
and the NPPF.
Highways and parking:
14. Sufficient off-street parking provision and manoeuvrability would remain
as a result of the proposed development.
Other matters
15. Concern has been raised in respect of the garden level of the application
property being raised and the impact of this on loss of privacy and
drainage / localised flooding. Temporary localised surface water flooding
of which evidence has been provided is likely to be addressed once the
development has been completed and the roof and hard surfaced areas
are properly connected to the drainage system. A condition requiring a
detailed landscaping scheme including details of the formation of any

Page 14

banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard surfaced areas and materials
and planting plans is recommended.
RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves to:
a) GRANT planning permission subject to the below schedule of
conditions.
1. The development must be begun not later than three years beginning
with the date of this permission.
Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).
2. This permission related to the following plans:- This permission relates to the following plans:- Location plan
- Materials
- Existing plans, elevations and site plan – dwg.no:- PL01
- Proposed plan, elevations and site plan – dwg.no:- PL02
and the development shall be carried out in complete accordance with
these drawings hereby approved.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory
standard of development in accordance with the policies contained within
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy, the saved Rochdale Unitary
Development Plan and the National Planning Policy Framework.
3. The materials used in the construction of the exterior of the development
hereby permitted shall match the details submitted with this application in
colour, form, type, size and texture.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with policies P3 and DM1 of the adopted
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.
4. (a) Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans, the
development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until full details of
both hard and soft landscaping works have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
include the formation of any banks, terraces or other earthworks, hard
surfaced areas and materials, planting plans, specifications and
schedules (including planting size, species and numbers/densities),
existing plants / trees to be retained and a scheme for the timing /
phasing of implementation works.

Page 15

(b) The landscaping works shall be carried out in accordance with the
approved scheme for timing / phasing of implementation or within the
next planting season following final occupation of the development
hereby permitted, whichever is the sooner.
(c) Any trees or shrubs planted or retained in accordance with this
condition which are removed, uprooted, destroyed, die or become
severely damaged or become seriously diseased within 5 years of
planting shall be replaced within the next planting season by trees or
shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be
planted.
Reason: To ensure that the site is satisfactorily landscaped having
regard to its location and the nature of the proposed development and in
accordance with policies P3 and DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core
Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 16

Agenda Item 5b
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document

Application: 20/00764/FUL

Township: Lakeside

Applicant: Mr Grieves
Hallmark Developments

21 January 2021
Councillor John
Blundell
Cabinet Member for
A Thriving Economy
Ryan Grant
Public

Ward: Littleborough

Agent: Nigel Longshaw
A.J.COCKER ASSOCIATES

Site Address: Honresfeld Halifax Road Littleborough OL15 0JG
Change of use from care home to single detached dwelling with
associated building and demolition works, demolition of existing
Proposal: bungalow and construction of six new detached dwellings with
associated servicing and external works - Resubmission of
19/01091/FUL
SITE L OCATION

Page 17

DELEGATION
1.1

The application falls to be determined by the Planning and Licensing
Committee following a call in request by Councillor Janet Emsley who
supports the proposals for six houses to save the old house in its entirety.
PROPOSAL SUMMARY

2.1

Full Planning Permission is sought for the erection of six detached dwellings
in the grounds of Honresfeld and the change of use of the former care home
into a single detached dwelling.
RECOMMENDATION

3.1

It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is
minded to APPROVE planning permission subject to conditions and the
completion of Section 106 Agreement.
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION

4.1

The application, as originally submitted failed to respond positively to the
reasons for refusal under application 19/01091/FUL. However, following
consultation with officers, each reason for refusal from the previous
application has been overcome. Significant redesign of the proposed new
build elements of the scheme have ensured that the key benefit of the
conservation and enhancement of Honresfeld House is fully realised without
undue impact on its setting.
All technical matters have been resolved to the extent that there are no
consultee objections subject to suitable conditions.
The significant benefits of the proposals have been assessed as outweighing
any harm to the Green Belt and as such are considered very special
circumstances that outweighs any other harm.
In conclusion the proposals can be supported subject to the agreement of
suitable planning conditions and the completion of a section 106 agreement.

Page 18

SITE
Honresfeld is a large detached property that was most recently used as a care
home. It is now essentially vacant, with the exception of property guardians who
reside in the house to protect against unauthorised entry, theft and vandalism.
The property dates from 1873 and was built in a Gothic style typical of mid Victorian
villas and internally contains a number of original features including timber panelling,
original ceilings, floors, fireplaces, stonework and other details. Whilst the property
is locally listed, a number of alterations and modern extensions have taken place at
the site over the years which are discussed in more detail in the heritage section.
The property is sited within large grounds and is set back from the road on an
elevated site. The site benefits from two entrances from Halifax Road, connected by
a sweeping driveway that runs to the rear of the house. The site originally included
walled and open gardens and glass houses.

PROPOSAL
The application proposes change of use of the property from a care home and
restoration of the main house, Honresfeld, to a single detached high value family
home. Six new large detached dwellings are also proposed in the grounds of the
property.
Change of use
The application proposes demolition of the modern elements of the existing building
and use of the original property as a single dwellinghouse. This would include
alterations to the internal layout of the house along with the closing or re-opening of
a number of external window and door openings.
Surrounding the immediate perimeter of the building paving and landscaping is
proposed. Off street parking spaces are to be provided to the east of the building.
The site layout plan identifies that the main site access (the southern access) and
the formal gardens in between the Honresfeld dwelling and Halifax Road would be
retained by the existing/main property.
Proposed detached dwellings
Six new contemporary detached houses are also proposed to be erected within the
grounds of the house. Plot 1 would be sited to the side (south west) of the main
house, plots 2-5 would be sited to the rear (south east) and plot 6 would be sited to
the opposite side (north east) of the main house.
Plot 1 would be a four bedroom, two storey house that would feature an asymmetric
frontage with an eastern fronting feature gable and a western feature projecting
window. Plot 1 would be provided with two off street parking spaces.
Plots 2 – 5 are to be an identical house type that would be two storey properties.
These are larger five bedroom homes sharing a similar design philosophy to Plot 1

Page 19

but featuring symmetrical dual front facing gable features and a central feature
projecting window. Plots 2 and 3 would include detached triple garages whilst Plots
4 and 5 would include detached double garages. Plots 2-5 would all be accessed by
a shared drive that would lead off the main site entrance and they would then all be
served by private drives that would access their respective garages. Each property
would also be provided with front and rear curtilage.
Plot 6 would be a four bedroom two storey house with split levels to account for the
site topography. The split levels result in additional space to the south at ground
floor level and additional space to the north at first floor level. These projecting
rooms each feature modern flat roofs although the lower floor features a roof light.
Two off street parking spaces are provided to the front of the dwelling alongside a
single garage. Curtilage garden areas would be provided to the front and rear of the
property with the rear garden featuring retaining structure walls to accommodate a
split level space.
Wider Site
Several trees are proposed to be removed from the site and some site re-grading is
proposed to the rear. Boundary treatment between the new properties is proposed
1.8m natural stone walls and hedgerows.
DEVELOPMENT PLAN
NATIONAL GUIDANCE
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – February 2019
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG)
REGIONAL GUIDANCE
Greater Manchester Joint Minerals Development Plan – March 2013
LOCAL GUIDANCE
Adopted Rochdale Core Strategy (CS):
C1
C3
C6
P1
P2
P3
G4
G6
G7
G8
G9
T2
DM1
DM2

Delivering the right amount of housing in the right places
Delivering the right type of housing
Improving health and well being
Improving image
Protecting and enhancing character, landscape and heritage
Improving design of new development
Protecting green belt land
Enhancing green infrastructure
Increasing the value of biodiversity and geodiversity
Managing water resources and flood risk
Reducing the impact of pollution
Improving accessibility
General development requirements
Delivering planning contributions and infrastructure

Rochdale Unitary Development Plan (UDP):

Page 20

G/D/2

Green Belt

Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD):
Supplementary Planning Guidance note ‘Guidelines and Standards for Residential
Development’.
RELEVANT HISTORY
89/D22686 – Alterations and extension to nursing home – Approved
91/D27415 – Formation of pitched roofs to existing single storey rear bedroom wing
including WC extension and erection of new entrance porch to rear of main building
– Approved
98/D35053 – Single storey extension to existing annexe of nursing home –
Approved
16/01457/HYBR - Outline application (including access, layout and scale) for the
erection of 8 dwellings and full application for change of use and conversion of the
existing property into 3 dwellings including demolition of bungalow and other
outbuilding and structures – Approved
19/01091/FUL - Change of use from care home to single detached dwelling with
associated building and demolition works, demolition of existing bungalow and
construction of six new detached dwellings with associated servicing and external
works – Refused
CONSULTATION RESPONSES - SUMMARIES
Conservation – Initial consultation response confirmed that there was no change in
position from a heritage perspective since the refusal of 19/01091/FUL and that all
previous comments remained extant.
Following revisions to the proposals. The officer advises that the comments have
been taken on board and it is now clear that the design for these buildings is
contemporary in nature with underlying influence from the non-designated heritage
asset and local vernacular. Subject to a number of final minor comments relating to
material specifications and gable features they advised that the proposals could be
supported. These changes were subsequently agreed and incorporated by the
applicant. The applicant has also agreed to the completion of a s106 agreement to
control the restoration works to the locally listed building as requested by the officer.
Highways – Requested the originally proposed single parking space for Plot 1 is
increased to at least two spaces which the applicant has now incorporated.
The applicant must submit a visibility splay plan demonstrating that the current
standards set out in the manual for streets can be achieved. This can be
conditioned.

Page 21

The layout is not adoptable but applicant has confirmed their intention to maintain
access privately.
Advises that a refuse store will need to be incorporate adjacent Halifax Road.
Greater Manchester Ecology Unit – The ecological reports provided as part of this
application are unchanged from the previous application and are still valid. We are
therefore still of the opinion that ecological issues can be dealt with via condition
including the requirement for a bat license.
Drainage - In the 2019 FRA, the Developer had proposed to discharge 46 l/s to
public sewer but the maximum flow value that UU would accept was confirmed in
writing as 15 l/s. The revised FRA addressed the matter:- the Developer is hoping to
provide drainage for the roads by using permeable materials but has not promised
anything. Therefore the Drainage Conditions must require the Developer to provide
substantial details to confirm that the development can provide suitable drainage for
the roads before anything else happens on the site.
United Utilities – Recommended standard drainage conditions.

MEMBER REPRESENTATIONS
Councillor Janet Emsley has confirmed her support of the proposal of 6 new builds
to save the old house in its entirety.
PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS
The application has been publicised with a site notice, press notice and neighbour
notification letters. One letter of objection and one individual letter of support have
been received along with a petition in support of the application with 36 signatures.
The letters are summarised below.
Objection
- Numerous trees have been felled on the site in the last 24 months to the
deterioration of nature conservation, appearance, amenity value and neighbour
privacy. The larger trees on site should have been given tree protection orders
(TPO’s) – Officer response - The trees that have been felled were not protected and
consultation with relevant officers confirms no objection to this felling.
- Concerns that the reduction in trees on site will increase flooding in the area. –
Officer response – The application is supported by a Flood risk and drainage report
which has been reviewed by the council’s drainage officer through the application.
- The site should be part of the Green Belt and have special protected area status.
Officer response – The site is part of the Green Belt and the report deals with this
issue in due course.
- The surrounding area is traditionally low density, semi-rural housing which is
unusual for Littleborough and should be maintained and encouraged. The density of
six new houses is too high. The proposal should be reduced to three new houses –Officer response – The proposal of 7 total dwellings within a site of this size is very
low density and appropriate for the site context.
- There are plenty of brownfield former industrial sites in Littleborough that should be
developed prior to building on no brownfield sites and increasing density. Officer

Page 22

response – Much of the site comprises previously developed land and the remaining
undeveloped areas are considered in the planning balance.
- The highway network leading to Littleborough was not designed for and cannot
cope with current high traffic movements. Only when access is improved should new
housing applications be approved. Officer response – Highway Services have
identified that the traffic movements associated with the development would not
generate any significant volume of traffic.
Support
- We support the application but request that a condition is included requiring the
contractors to park all their vehicles within the site and not on Halifax Road. Officer
response – A Condition is recommended for the submission of a Construction
Method Statement to ensure protection of residential amenity and highways safety.
Petition in Support (36 Signatures)
- We are concerned that the former Honresfeld Victorian home is under threat and
support the application by Hallmark Developments Ltd to refurbish the original home
and demolish the modern unsightly 1980s extensions and to build 6 prestigious
homes in the former grounds.
ANALYSIS
Principle of development
1. In assessment of the application it is noted that the proposal as originally
submitted was very similar in all aspects to refused application
19/01091/FUL. However, following various discussions with officers and
consultees, additional documentation has been provided during the course of
the application, including a revised design philosophy for all new housetypes.
2. The application site is located within the Green Belt as allocated under the
Rochdale Unitary Development Plan Proposals Map. NPPF states that Local
Planning Authorities should regard the construction of new buildings as
inappropriate in the Green Belt. Inappropriate development is, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt and should not be approved except in very special
circumstances. When considering planning applications, LPA’s should
ensure that substantial weight is given to any harm to the Green Belt and
‘very special circumstances’ will not exist unless the potential harm to the
Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness, and any other harm, is clearly
outweighed by other considerations.
3. The restoration of the existing dwelling and its reuse as a single dwelling is
entirely appropriate in the development in the Green Belt. However, it is
considered that the proposed development as a whole and the construction
of the new additional homes would not fall under any of the exceptions listed
in NPPF due to the extent of additional new buildings and would represent
inappropriate development within the Green Belt requiring very special
circumstances.

Page 23

4. The material matters of the application are considered in full below. These
allow an assessment into whether the application includes ‘very special
circumstances’ so as to outweigh the harm caused to the green belt by
reason of inappropriateness.
Impact on Openness
5. The application proposes significant demolition of the existing building with
the complete removal of the extensions from 1980’s and 90’s. Since its
construction the property has been primarily in residential use (both as
private and social care) and the current application proposes to retain that
use with conversion of the existing building and the erection of 6 no.
dwellings within the curtilage of the site.
6. When considering the impact on openness it is first noted that there is a
recently expired planning permission (16/01457/HYBR) which includes full
permission for the conversion of Honresfeld to three dwellings and outline
permission for the erection of five detached dwellings. With that application
volume and footprint calculations were provided and these demonstrated that
the development would result in a net reduction in footprint of 693m2 (52% of
balance) and a net reduction in volume of 1043m3 (24% of balance).
7. Despite the removal of the 1980s and 90s extensions, the current application
would result in a built volume increase across the site in the region of 22%.
There would however be a net reduction in footprint of circa 21%.
8. Similarly to the previously approved application (16/01457/HYBR), the
application would result in the development of previously undeveloped land
within the site and this would impact on the site’s openness. Additionally, this
application introduces one additional plot and new dwellings of increased
scale, compared to the approved application.
9. It must however be noted that the consideration of Green Belt openness is
not narrowly limited to volumetric calculations. Established case law has
confirmed that the factors relevant to openness is a matter of planning
judgement dependent on the individual circumstances of each site. Whilst not
relevant in all cases, visual impact can have a key spatial consideration
which is relevant to the determination of impact on openness.
10. In the case of the application it is considered that visual impact is relevant to
the case in relation to impact on openness. The site is a discrete parcel of
land with strong clear boundaries featuring established trees and vegetation.
Views into and out of the site are notably limited and the site does not have a
strong relationship with the surrounding greenbelt with regards to its
characteristic of expansive openness. Whereas the expanding greenbelt land
to the east of the site is open with sweeping views across countryside, the
application site is self-contained with the previously mentioned strong

Page 24

boundaries, and which has a long established historic building anchoring the
site.

11. Whilst the proposed development would result in a volumetric increase in
built form on the site, this is offset by the reduction in overall footprint and the
removal of unsightly modern additions on the site. The site has presently and
historically had limited contribution to the key openness characteristic of the
greenbelt, due to its historic composition of buildings and strong boundaries
which create a distinct visual break from the open Green Belt land
surrounding.
12. Whilst the application proposals do not go so far as to reduce the level of
impact on openness that the previously consented scheme achieved, it is
considered in the balance that the overall impact on openness is relatively
limited. This impact is nonetheless contrary to Green Belt policy, however the
extent of impact is relevant to the weighting applied in the final balance that
will be determined against any ‘very special circumstances’ addressed
below.
Heritage and Visual Amenity
13. Honresfeld is a locally listed building. The listing description reads
‘Honresfeld is a typical example of a Victorian mill owner’s house designed in
gothic revival style, and retaining some good quality interiors. It was
designed by a well-regarded London architect, Benjamin Ferrey, and built by
the local Laws family (1873)’.
14. The Council’s Conservation Officer advises that the historic significance of
Honresfeld lies in the internal and external architectural features, along with
the setting and view from the front of the building across the gardens, and
the historic gate posts and front boundary. The twentieth century extensions
have no historic significance and detract from the historic qualities of the
main house. Whilst many original features have been retained, the building is
under threat of further deterioration. The site has fallen further into disrepair
over recent years due to issues of theft and vandalism on the property along
with related water damage. Whilst the applicant now has 24/7 protection at
the site from illegal and anti-social behaviour, the applicant advises that it is
not feasible to viably protect and restore the house without wholesale
redevelopment, including the provision of new housing, to cross fund the
necessary restoration works.

15. To enable the development the proposal seeks to demolish and remove the
modern extensions adjoining the property which will create an enhancement
to the non-designated heritage asset. The Conservation Officer has advised
that full detailed specifications will need to be provided for a number of items
on the existing building. The existing historic features are important to the
building’s historical significance and in order to protect this a Section 106

Page 25

agreement shall be entered into to enable the protection of such features.
This enhancement is considered to carry significant weight in the planning
balance.
16. In respect of the proposed erection of six new detached dwellings within the
grounds of the non-designated heritage asset this element of the
development will result in less than substantial harm (NPPF, paragraph 197).
This harm will be caused through the impact that the development would
have on the setting of the asset itself and through the alteration of the formal
garden space. The resulting harm is deemed to be largely justified, mitigated
and outweighed by the restoration scheme for the main house which is only
facilitated through the redevelopment of the site including additional units.

17. Following dialogue between the applicant and officers the design of the
scheme, particularly the new build houses has changed significantly from the
previously refused application 19/01091/FUL.

18. The new housetypes designs put forward have positively responded to
officers comments by presenting a group of distinctly contemporary new
homes but which have a clear underlying influence from the non-designated
heritage asset and local vernacular. There is also now greater levels of
variation in the housetypes for improved visual interest when viewed as a
whole across the site. Whilst the siting of Plots 1 and 6 continue to have the
greatest levels of impact on the setting of the heritage asset, the positive
design changes for these units has reduced this impact to a level which is
considered acceptable on wider balance.

19. The revised designs have taken on board a number of key elements which
have enabled support from the council’s conservation officer. This includes
the selection of an appropriate, attractive and robust materials palette, with
some feature detailing to be controlled through condition. These materials
reflect the heritage asset and local vernacular and include high quality
natural stone facing materials and boundary walls along with aluminium
window frames and rainwater goods. Feature gable pitches have been
increased in height to reflect gothic revival architecture. The fenestration to
all elevations has been improved to feature taller narrow windows which are
both more contemporary than previously proposed but also more reflective of
the gothic stylings of the heritage asset.

20. Plot 6 has been rotated to present consistent front and rear elevation
alignment across Plot 1 and the heritage asset, which has also improved the
separation distance between windows on the main house. The design has
also been entirely reimagined with a new split level dwelling that responds
proactively to the site levels to create multiple new attractive living spaces
across both floors. Plot 5 has also dropped by 1.2m improving its relationship
with the main house. The layout now retains the historic access
arrangements allowing for a single loop access.

Page 26

21. On the basis of the significant design improvements that have been
achieved, the conservation officer is now able to support the proposals. This
has been considered as a whole, accounting for the substantial benefits for
the locally listed heritage asset which are accompanied by new dwellings
which now respond respectfully to its characteristics and significance along
with an improved internal site layout.

22. As set out in NPPF Paragraph 197, in weighing applications that affect nondesignated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required having
regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage
asset. In consideration of this application there will be limited harm from the
creation of new dwellings. These buildings have been designed to respect
the asset through their appearance, layout, and selection of materials. The
proposed change of use and restoration of the ‘Honresfeld’ house itself
present significant positive contributions to its significance through the
conservation and enhancement of key historic features, whilst removing
detrimental modern extensions. As such, the balanced judgement in this
case finds that the benefits for the non-designated heritage asset firmly
outweigh any detrimental impacts on its setting.
Trees and landscaping
23. The application site supports a fine community of mature and wellestablished broadleaved trees which together make a valuable contribution
to the local landscape character and policy G7 of the Core Strategy seeks to
protect existing biodiversity including trees and vegetation. The application is
accompanied by an arboricultural report and comments have been sought
from the Greater Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU). It is noted that none of
the trees on the site are protected by a TPO. The report has identified a
number of trees which require removal or remedial works. GMEU advise no
objections to these recommendations and therefore have no objections to the
recommended tree works proceeding.
24. Subject to appropriate conditions it is considered that the application is
acceptable in terms of arboricultural considerations and in this regard the
application would accord with policy G7 of the Core Strategy.

Biodiversity and Protected species
25. The application has been accompanied by a bat survey and a phase one
ecological report and consultations have been undertaken with the Greater
Manchester Ecology Unit (GMEU).

Page 27

26. GMEU have advised that as there are confirmed bat roosts, they are subject
to legal protection and to undertake work a European Species Mitigation
License (EPSML) will be required. It is possible to obtain licences for
activities affecting bats that would otherwise be in breach of the law. In the
case of development works (including building demolition) a licence can be
issued under Section 39 of the Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2010. Tests set by Natural England must be satisfied before a
license will be issued. As with the previously approved application, and as
advised by GMEU, it is not considered that the application proposals would
fail to meet these tests. GMEU also advise that a condition for details of
external lighting is used to prevent impact on bats commuting and foraging.
27. In respect of other species GMEU have advised that the building together
with the trees and vegetation on site have the potential to support nesting
birds and a standard condition should apply for vegetation clearance.
28. GMEU have also advised that opportunities for biodiversity enhancement be
incorporated into the new development. As such they recommend
conditioning the requirements set out within the applicant’s Ecological
Appraisal Section 5. These include:


Quantities and locations of faunal boxes for bats, birds, hedgehogs and
Insects;



Details of Native shrub/tree/grass/hedgerow planting;



Incorporation of gaps in fencing to allow movement for hedgehogs and
other small mammals

Residential amenity
29. The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) ‘Guidelines and
Standards for Residential Development’ establishes that the separation
distances applied to all new residential developments. The SPD does accept
exceptions will be made and applications should be determined on their
individual merits, accounting for specific site constraints. The proposed
layout would largely meet the space standards between dwellings to protect
future residents from any harmful overlooking and/or overshadowing from
neighbouring development.

30. There are a small number of areas which do not comply strictly with the SPD
guidelines. These are in the relationships between Plot 1 and the Main
household, and Plot 6 and the main household. The non-compliance relates
to windows on side elevations and the distance between windows and
curtilage boundaries. Whilst the relationships between the units are lower
than might ordinarily be required, there will be no privacy issues between
habitable rooms and all rooms will have large windows with appropriate
views. No existing residents will be impacted upon and future residents will
still benefit from the large attractive windows with views to the front and rear

Page 28

of the properties. There will be no prevention of future residents’ enjoyment
of their habitable rooms or garden curtilages.
31. In light of the above it is considered that whilst the relationships between
Plots 1 and 6 with the main house are not strictly in accordance with the SPD
guidelines, there are no unacceptable relationships between units which
would prevent future residents’ enjoyment of the properties.
Environmental considerations
32. Policy DM1 of the Core Strategy also requires that development mitigate
against any impacts due to pollution. Consultations have been undertaken
with the Councils Environmental Service who have advised that a site
investigation and risk assessment will be required. This is a reasonable
request and a condition will be included on any approval. Construction hours
will also be subject to conditional approval.
Drainage
33. A Drainage and Flood Risk Report has been submitted with the application
and consultations have been undertaken with the Councils Lead Drainage
Officer and United Utilities. The Council’s Drainage Officer has reviewed the
information submitted with the application and confirms the report sets out
that the proposals will achieve all required technical standards and accord
with policy G8 of the Core Strategy and NPPF policy. However, further
detailed drainage design information is required via a suitable condition.
Highway safety
34. The application site is served by two existing access points onto Halifax
Road. Currently the north east access has been blocked up. The application
proposes retention of both accesses and will include the restoration of the
historic circular route through the site.
35. In terms of the proposed parking provision Plot 1 was originally afforded only
one parking space, however following Highways Service comments this has
been increased to two spaces which is acceptable. All other plots have
acceptable levels of off street parking provision.
36. Highway Service have confirmed that a development of the size and nature
proposed would create no significant negative impact upon the local network
capacity. However, they have, as with the previous application, requested
that appropriate visibility splays are approved through a suitable condition.

Page 29

37. In respect of refuse collection the Highways service have confirmed with the
applicant that the proposed access roads will be privately managed and
maintained. Therefore a bin store will be required adjacent the adopted
highway. This can be controlled through condition.
38. Highway Services have raised no objections to the principle of development
at the site and consider the outstanding issues manageable through suitable
conditions. The application is therefore acceptable in regards highway safety
and in accordance with policies T2 and DM1 of the Core Strategy and policy
in the NPPF.
Very Special Circumstances
39. As highlighted earlier in this report, the application is considered to represent
inappropriate development within the Green Belt. NPPF Paragraph 144
requires that local planning authorities ensure substantial weight is given to
any harm to the Green Belt and ‘Very Special Circumstances’ will not exist
unless the potential harm to the Green Belt by reason of inappropriateness,
and any other harm, is clearly outweighed by other considerations.
40. Following consideration of the application as set out above, there are
significant benefits associated with the proposals. Namely, the conservation
and enhancement of a locally listed building. The building has fallen into a
state of decline over recent years but the application proposals seek to
reverse this with a full scheme of restoration to a single large family
residence that will be secured through the changes shown on the submitted
plans and further detail to be included in the section 106 agreement.

41. The extent of works to be delivered necessitates a level of additional new
build development to viably be brought forward and this principle has been
established in previous applications. The new build elements of this scheme
have been refined significantly and now have support of planning and
conservation officers. The design for these buildings is contemporary in
nature with underlying influence from the non-designated heritage asset and
local vernacular. The respectful design has ensured that the restoration
benefits for the main house are not diminished by any impacts upon its
setting.

42. It is also of note that the proposed new homes will be large family units with
4-5 bedrooms aimed at providing high value family housing. This is a
typology of housing that is currently underprovided in the authority and has
been highlighted as requirement across the borough. As such, the delivery of
a small windfall site with a much needed housing type, and on a site with a
historically residential nature is a notable benefit of the application proposals.

Page 30

43. In order to determine whether these benefits constitute very special
circumstances it is necessary to assess these against any harm to the Green
Belt’s openness or purposes for including land within it.

44. As addressed above the application proposals will have a harmful impact on
the openness of the Green Belt which was not the case for the previously
consented scheme. However, the previous scheme has expired and the new
proposals must be assessed on its own merits. In this regard the level of
impact on openness is considered limited due to a number of factors set out
previously. These included the overall reduction in built footprint on the site,
combined with the context of the site and limited visual impact which in this
instance has been demonstrated as an important spatial aspect of the Green
Belt’s openness.

45. In considering whether the proposals will impact on the purposes of the
Green Belt in this location, it is concluded that the application proposals
would not have a significant impact. As the site is a small well-contained
parcel of land it is not considered that there is any risk of the proposals
contributing to unrestricted sprawl, merging of neighbouring towns, or
countryside encroachment. The preservation of historic towns is not
considered relevant in this instance. With regards to encouraging
regeneration and the recycling of derelict land, the proposals are in
themselves regenerating a historically residential site with a small quantum of
new development to support the viability of its regeneration. As such it is not
considered the proposals will discourage other brownfield sites being brought
forward.

46. Overall, the level of impact on openness from the application proposals is
considered to be limited and there will be no significant impact on the Green
Belt’s ability to serve its purpose in the area. As such the significant benefit of
the conservation and enhancement of a locally listed non-designated
heritage asset, along with the provision of well designed, high value family
housing are considered very special circumstances which outweigh the harm
to the Green Belt.
Conclusion
47. Whilst the proposals amount to inappropriate development within the Green
Belt, it is considered that the plans to restore the locally listed heritage asset,
Honresfeld, supported by well-designed high value family housing falls to be
considered as very special circumstances to outweigh the harm to the Green
Belt. The benefits of restoration can be secured by s106 legal agreement and
will ensure that a programme for timing of that restoration are agreed with the
local planning authority prior to development commencing.
48. All other technical matters have been resolved to the extent that there are no
consultee objections subject to suitable conditions.

Page 31

RECOMMENDATION
It is recommended that the Planning and Licensing Committee resolves it is minded
to Grant subject to s106 agreement to secure:
a) A scheme for the restoration, retention and future management of the
identified historic features of Honresfeld home, including ‘ but not limited
to] :
a. Historic windows (or suitable replacements to be agreed in writing by
the Council);
b. Stone works and other finishes (where modern additions to Honresfeld
house are to be removed);
c. The main nineteenth century structure of Honresfeld house, including
stonework, roofing materials and details such as finials;
d. All decorative features in the main fall of Honresfeld home, including
timber panelling, decorative plasterwork and coat of arms, ceiling
details, fireplace and surround, timber flooring including brass inlay
and door and window surrounds; and
e. Decorative features throughout Honresfeld home including; window
surrounds, plaster work, timber panelling and skirtings, timber doors
including ironmongery and brassware, timber and stone door
surrounds, fireplace surrounds including the stone, marble, mosaic,
tiling and metalwork, staircase including all decorative woodwork,
ashlar stonework and quoins, terrazzo, mosaic and tiled flooring,
internal window features including decorative timber panelling, shutters
and pelmets.
b) A Site Landscaping and Management Plan
c) A Phasing and Delivery Plan
And subject to the following conditions:

1. The development must be begun not later than the expiration of two years
beginning with the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with the requirements of section 91 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. This permission relates to the following plans:
- Proposed Site Layout (H404-05-E)
- Demolition Plan (H404-13-A)
- Proposed Plans (H404-03-B)
- Proposed Elevations (H404-04-B)
- House Type Plot 1 (H404-10-B)
- House Type – Elevations - Plot 1 (H404-11-C)
- House Type Plans (H404-07-A)
- House Type Elevations (H404-08-B)

Page 32

-

Proposals Plot 6 (H404-06-F)
Garages (H404-09-B)

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
drawings.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of
development in accordance with the policies contained within the adopted
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.
3. Notwithstanding any details hereby approved and the requirements of
condition 2, no above ground works, other than demolition, shall take place
until samples or full details of all external facing materials have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
retained as such thereafter.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure satisfactory standards of
appearance and quality are achieved and that the development protects the
character and appearance of Honresfeld and the Green Belt and to accord
with the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy
Framework.
Reason for pre-commencement condition: The development relates to the
conversion of a non-designated heritage asset and the introduction of new
dwellings in its vicinity and it is important that these details respect the
significance of the heritage asset.
4. Notwithstanding any details hereby approved and the requirements of
condition 2, no above ground works, other than demolition, shall take place
until a method statement and specification showing the locations, fixing and
materials of the external waste, soil and vents pipes has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and
retained as such thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure a satisfactory appearance of this non-designated
heritage asset and in the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy
P1, P2 and P3 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and policy in the
National Planning Policy Framework.
Reason for pre-commencement condition: The development relates to the
conversion of a non-designated heritage asset and it is important that these
details respect the significance of the heritage asset.

Page 33

5. The windows shown obscurely glazed on elevation 6 of the development
hereby approved (drawing no.H404-04-B) shall be fitted with textured glass,
the obscuration level of which shall be no less than Level 3 of the Pilkington
Glass scale (or equivalent) and retained as such thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of residential amenity and in accordance with policy
DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy
Framework.
6. Notwithstanding the details shown on the approved plans and the
requirements of condition 2 of this permission, no above ground works, other
than demolition, shall take place until a specification for the design and
construction of all private parking areas has been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The parking areas shall be
constructed in accordance with the approved details before any of the
dwellings they would serve are first brought into use and shall be retained as
such thereafter. The parking areas shall be retained for parking purposes at
all times thereafter.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to accord with policy DM1 of
the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and policy in the National Planning
Policy Framework.
7. No part of the development shall be occupied until a refuse collection strategy
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The collection of refuse from the site shall be undertaken in
accordance with the approved scheme thereafter.
Reason: In order to ensure adequate refuse collection from the site and to
protect highway safety and in accordance with policy DM1 of the adopted
Rochdale Core Strategy and policy in the National Planning Policy
Framework.
8. The development is likely to cause harm to common pipistrelle bats as
identified in the Bat Survey & Report JCA reference 12831e/AmB and shall
not in any circumstances commence unless the local planning authority has
been provided with either:
a) a license issued by Natural England pursuant to Regulation 55, of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 authorising the
specified activity/development go ahead: or
b) a statement in writing form the relevant licensing body or LPA to the effect
that it does not consider that the specified development or phase of the
development will require a license
The development shall thereafter be undertaken in accordance with the
details submitted.

Page 34

Reason: In order to ensure that protected species at the site can be
adequately protected in accordance with policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.
Reason for Pre-commencement: To ensure bat mitigation measures are in
place upon commencement.
9. Prior to the installation of any external lighting, a strategy shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the LPA. The strategy shall:
-

-

Identify areas/features on site that are potentially sensitive to lighting
for bats;
show how and where street lighting will be installed and through
appropriate lighting contour plans demonstrated clearly that any
impacts on bats is negligible;
Specify frequency and duration of use.

All external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the agreed
specifications and locations set out in the strategy.
Reason: In order to ensure that protected species at the site can be
adequately protected in accordance with policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale
Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.
10. No external works to the buildings, trees and vegetation, including site
clearance shall be undertaken in the main bird breeding season (March to
July inclusive) unless a report, by a suitably qualified person is submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority to demonstrate that
nesting birds are not present on the site. The development shall be
undertaken in accordance with any submitted report.
Reason: In order to protect birds and their nests and to accord with policy G7
of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy
Framework.
11. No above ground works, other than demolition, shall take place until a
Biodiversity Enhancement Plan has been submitted to and approved by the
Local Planning Authority. This plan shall include:
- Quantities and locations of faunal boxes for bats, birds, hedgehogs
and Insects;
- Details of Native shrub/tree/grass/hedgerow planting;
- Incorporation of gaps in fencing to allow movement for hedgehogs and
other small mammals
The development shall be undertaken in accordance with approved Plan and
the measures retained thereafter.
Reason: In order to conserve and enhance the biodiversity of the site and
ensure no net loss of habitats on site and to increase biodiversity and

Page 35

opportunities for wildlife in accordance with policy G7 of the adopted
Rochdale Core Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.
12. No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement
(CMS) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The CMS shall include details of the following:
(i)
hours for site preparation, demolition works, delivery of materials and
construction;
(ii)
the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
(iii)
loading and unloading of plant and materials;
(iv)
storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development.
(v)
the erection and maintenance of security hoarding
(vi)
wheel washing facilities;
(vii) measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;
and
(viii) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction
works.
The duly approved CMS shall be adhered to throughout the demolition and
construction period.
Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place to limit
noise, nuisance and disturbance to the occupiers of neighbouring dwellings
during the construction of the development in accordance with the
requirements of Core Strategy Policy G9, and the National Planning Policy
Framework.
Reason for pre-commencement condition: As the proposals require
demolition works, ground works and engineering works an understanding will
therefore be necessary of what measures will be put in place to protect the
amenity of nearby residents and highway safety, prior to commencement of
any works taking place.
13. No development shall commence, other than demolition works, until a foul
and surface water drainage scheme including surface water from parking
areas and access roads has been submitted to, and approved in writing by,
the local planning authority. The drainage scheme for the development shall
be in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPG)
hierarchy, in the following order of priority:
- into the ground (infiltration);
- to a surface water body;
- to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or another drainage system;
- to a combined public sewer at a maximum rate of 15 l/s.
Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority, the foul
and surface water drainage scheme shall include:
(i) An investigation of the hierarchy of drainage options in the National
Planning Policy Framework (or any subsequent amendment thereof).

Page 36

This investigation shall include evidence of an assessment of ground
conditions and the potential for infiltration of surface water.
(ii) The background calculations of any MicroDrainage® model that has
been used for the runoff calculations.
(iii) Details of the use of flow attenuation measures to restrict surface water
discharges to public sewer to 15 l/s.
(iv) Details of how the surface water scheme will be maintained and
managed after completion.
(v) Confirmation of separate systems for foul and surface and only
combined at the site’s final outfall manhole, if necessary
The approved scheme shall also be in accordance with the Non-Statutory
Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March 2015) or any
subsequent replacement national standards.
The duly approved scheme shall be implemented prior to the first occupation
of the dwelling hereby permitted and shall be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To prevent an increased risk of flooding as a result of the
development and to ensure satisfactory disposal of surface water from the
site in accordance with Policy G8 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy,
saved Policy EM/7 of the adopted Rochdale Unitary Development Plan and
the National Planning Policy Framework.
Reason for Pre-commencement: Drainage infrastructure will need to be
implemented prior to commencement of above ground works and a scheme
therefore needs to be agreed in advance of the same.
14. No development or site works shall take place until a scheme for the
protection of all trees that are to be retained within and adjacent to the site in
accordance with BS:5837:2012 'Trees in relation to design, demolition and
construction. Recommendations' has been submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The fencing shall be retained during
the period of construction and no work, excavation, tipping, or
stacking/storage of materials shall take place within such protective fencing
during the construction period.
Reason: To ensure adequate protection of trees around the site and to accord
with policy G7 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and the National
Planning Policy Framework.
Reason for pre-commencement: Any works on the site could unduly impact
on important trees that must be protected upon commencement.
15. No development shall take place until an investigation and risk assessment,
in addition to any assessment provided with the planning application, to
assess the nature and extent of any contamination on the site, whether or not

Page 37

it originates on the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the
local planning authority. The investigation and risk assessment must be
undertaken by competent persons and the report of the findings must include:
(i) a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination
(ii) an assessment of the potential risks to:
- human health,
- property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops,
livestock, pets, woodland, and service lines and pipes,
- adjoining land,
- groundwaters and surface waters,
- ecological systems,
- archaeological sites and ancient monuments;
(iii) where unacceptable risks are identified, an appraisal of remedial
options and proposal of the preferred option(s)
The development shall thereafter be carried out in full accordance with the
duly approved remediation strategy and a verification report submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before any of the
building(s) hereby approved are first occupied.
Reason: So as to ensure there is no harmful contamination on the site and to
accord with policy DM1 of the adopted Rochdale Core Strategy and policy in
the National Planning Policy Framework.
Reason for pre-commencement condition - The investigations may require
measures that will require implementation prior to construction of the
development approved.
16. No part of the development shall be occupied until details have been provided
demonstrating visibility splays of 2.4 metres by 43 metres will be provided at
the site accesses onto Halifax Road. The area of land between the visibility
splay line and the highway boundary shall thereafter be kept clear of all
obstructions in excess of 1 metre in height.
Reason: In the interests of road safety.
17. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 Schedule 2 Part 1 (or any
equivalent Order following the amendment, re-enactment or revocation
thereof) the Honresfeld dwellings hereby approved shall: not be altered or
extended; no microwave antenna shall be affixed to the dwellings; no
installation, replacement or alterations to chimneys, flues or soil and vent
pipes shall be carried out; no hard surfaces shall be laid or replaced; and no
buildings, structure, gates, fences or walls shall be erected under Schedule 2,
Part 1 of the above Order except with the prior written approval of the Local
Planning Authority.

Page 38

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to protect the non-designated
heritage asset in accordance with policies P1, P2 and P3 of the adopted
Rochdale Corfe Strategy and the National Planning Policy Framework.

Page 39

Agenda Item 6
Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application: 19/01358/FUL

Township: Rochdale

21 January 2021
Councillor John Blundell,
Cabinet Member for
a Thriving Economy
Michael Atkinson-Smith
Public
Ward: Norden

Appeal Reference: APP/P422/W/20/3256387
Decision level: Delegated
Site Address: Land at Higher Birtle, near junction of Birtle Road and Scotland Lane,
Birtle, Rochdale
Proposal: Erection of stable block with associated hardstanding and manure store
Applicant: Ms Donna Smith

Agent: Mr. Steven Hartley

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Allowed – 30 October 2020










The appeal resulted from the Council’s failure to determine the planning application within
the prescribed period.
The Inspector noted that jurisdiction to issue a decision on the application was taken away
from the Council when the appeal was lodged, but that it would have approved the
application had it been empowered to do so.
Amendments had been secured to make the proposed development acceptable, notably in
respect of materials finish, and additional information had been sought in respect of
drainage; full and adequate details of which were not forthcoming.
The Inspector broadly agreed with the Council’s assessment of the development proposal
and agreed for the need for a pre-commencement drainage condition to be applied, albeit
one which is less robust than that recommended by the Council’s Drainage Officer.
The appeal was allowed and planning permission granted as per the recommendation of the
Council, subject to conditions in respect of submission of materials and full drainage details.
A separate application for the full costs of the appeal to be awarded to the appellant was
allowed by the Inspector on the basis that ‘no detailed or firm evidence’ was provided to
account for the delay in reaching a decision.
The Inspector did, however, refer to correspondence indicating that the Council were
engaging with the applicant in discussions regarding a pre-commencement condition to
secure drainage details and that stated that it was ‘clear from the evidence that the
application was due to determined imminently and an Extension of Time was sought by the
Council’.
The Inspector did not refer to the amendments that had been secured to make the
development acceptable and made no assessment of whether the appeal could have been
avoided altogether.

Page 40

Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document

21 January 2021
Councillor John Blundell,
Cabinet Member for
a Thriving Economy
Rachel Carney
Public

Application:
Township: Pennines
Ward: Milnrow & Newhey
20/00469/HOUS
Appeal Reference: APP/P4225/D/20/3257762 Decision level: Delegated
Site Address: 12 Birchinley Manor, Birchinley Lane, Milnrow, OL16 3DG
Proposal: Single storey rear extension
Applicant: Mr & Mrs Aaron Stott

Agent: Mrs Caroline Tamworth

Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 1st December 2020
 The application was refused due to the scale and design of the extension which
would result in less than substantial harm to the setting of the adjacent Grade II*
and Grade II listed buildings.
 The Inspector advised that the proposal would appear as a stark modern addition
which, along with its scale, would be a marked contrast to the more traditionally
formed listed buildings and detract from the significance of their setting.
 The Inspector confirmed that views of the site from the adjacent public right of way
would further serve to demonstrate the uncomfortable relationship between the
proposal and the significance of the listed buildings
 The Inspector found that public benefits would not outweigh the less that
substantial harm caused to the setting of the listed buildings and the appeal was
dismissed.

Page 41

Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application: 17/01179/FUL

Township: Pennines

21 January 2021
Councillor John Blundell,
Cabinet Member for
a Thriving Economy
Rachel Carney
Public
Ward: Littleborough
Lakeside

Appeal Reference:
Decision level: Delegated
APP/P4225/W/20/3256043
Site Address: Whitfield Barn, Calderbrook Road, Littleborough, OL15 9NP
Proposal: Change of use and conversion of existing barn and outbuilding to form a
new dwelling including part rebuilding of existing storage buildings and extension to
existing dwelling - Resubmission of 18/01061/FUL
Applicant: Mr Nigel Bishop
Agent: PA Dust Architect
Planning Inspectorate Decision: Appeal Dismissed – 21st December 2020
 The application was refused due to the proposal representing inappropriate in the
Green Belt due to the fact that the barn is structurally unsound and incapable of
conversion without major reconstruction. The application was also refused
because the proposed design failed to give sufficient regard to the historic and
agricultural context of the site and would result in unacceptable harm to visual
amenity and cause less than substantial harm to the setting of the adjacent Grade
II listed building and non-designated heritage assets.
 The Planning Inspector agreed that works to the barn would be so extensive that
they would be beyond what can be considered as a conversion. The Inspector
confirmed that the buildings are not of permanent and substantial construction and
as such the proposal represents inappropriate development in the Green Belt and
result in a loss of openness. The Inspector also agreed that the site comprises
previously undeveloped land.
 The Inspector also found that the proposed alterations would over-domesticate
the building and that the extent of rebuilding works would result in the loss of the
building’s simple form, causing harm to the character and appearance of the host
building and wider area, impacting considerably on the significance of the nondesignated and designated heritage assets.
 The Inspector found that there were no very special circumstances or public
benefits associated with the development sufficient to outweigh the identified harm
and the appeal was dismissed.

Page 42

Report to Planning and Licensing Committee
Date of Meeting
Portfolio

21 January 2021
Councillor John Blundell,
Cabinet Member for
a Thriving Economy
Martin Eastaugh
Public

Report Author
Public/Private Document
Application: 19/0103/EUD

Township: Rochdale

Appeal Reference APP/P4225/C/20/3256022

Ward: Milkstone & Deeplish

Decision level: Delegated

Site Address: 24 Grandidge Street, Rochdale OL11 3SA
Alleged Breach: The breach of planning control is operational development comprising:
i) The demolition of a two storey rear outrigger and the construction of a two storey
rear extension with a flat overhanging roof;
ii) The construction of a single storey rear and side extension;
iii) The construction of a single storey front and side extension;
iv) The alteration and enlargement of a front dormer extension and the demolition of
a rear dormer and the construction of larger rear dormer, and
v) The alteration to the first floor side wall to add timber batons and foil cladding.
The piecemeal construction/poor design resulted in a visually obtrusive and overly
dominant development, out of character with the original dwelling and wider street scene.
Applicant: Miss Saima Mahmood
Agent: BMS Solicitors
Planning Inspectorate Decision: 7th December 2020 – Appeal dismissed and the
Enforcement Notice upheld without variation.
 The Enforcement Notice was issued in June 2020. A summary of the requirements
are:
a) Demolish/remove all of the above listed unauthorised extensions and all dormer
alterations/enlargements;
f) Remove the timber batons and external insulation from the first floor side
elevation;
g) Restore the land to its condition prior to the breach taking place
 The appellant submitted a ground (d) appeal, arguing that at the date when the
notice was issued, no enforcement action could be taken (i.e. more than 4 years
had passed since the operational development was substantially completed).
However, little supporting evidence was provided to substantiate this.
 Conversely, the Council provided an extensive statement including; previous and
current officer notes and photos, a sworn statement from a Building Control Officer
and Google Street View and Google Earth images, to counter the claim and
demonstrate the Notice had been served in time.
 In dismissing the appeal, the Inspector noted; ‘The appellant’s evidence is
imprecise and ambiguous…’ and ‘…moreover the Council has submitted evidence
which contradicts the appellant’s arguments’.
 Officers will be monitoring the property to ensure that the Notice is complied with.

Page 43

